- Coubleknot

Gift Cards, Loyalty Accounts & Grants User Guide

Doubleknot 20665 Fourth Street, Suite 103 Saratoga, California 95070 Telephone: (408) 971-9120 Email: <u>Support@doubleknot.com</u>

SM-GCLAG-UG-1.0

© 2019 Doubleknot - All rights reserved.

This document is provided for informational purposes only, and makes no guarantees, representations or warranties, either express or implied, about the information contained within the document or about the document itself. All information in this document is subject to change without notice. Additional trademarks included herein are the property of their respective owners.

The material in this document is proprietary information of Doubleknot. The information may not be copied or used in any manner. The document is submitted to the recipient for their use only. By receiving this document, the recipient undertakes not to duplicate the document or to disclose in a part of, or the whole of, any of the information or ideas contained herein to any third party without receiving prior written permission from Doubleknot.

Doubleknot Saratoga, CA (408) 971-9120 www.doubleknot.com

CONTENTS

FAQ	1
What Are Gift Cards, Loyalty Accounts and Grants?	1
Can My Organization Use These Features?	1
How Do I Enable These Features?	1
What's the Difference Between Administrator-Issued Gift Cards and Gift Cards that Customers Buy?	1
How Purchasers Use Gift Cards and Loyalty Accounts	2
Accepting Gift Cards in Sales Station	3
Getting Started	
Gift Card Administration	5
Issue a Gift Card in Any Amount	5
Check a Gift Card Balance	6
Reload a Gift Card	6
View Gift Card Transactions	6
Creating Gift Cards for Sale	8
How Do Customers Receive Gift Cards?	8
Create Gift Card(s) as Store Products	9
Assign Gift Card Product(s) to the Gift Card Template	9
Customizing the Gift Card Template	10
Professional Services are Available	10
Before You Start	10
Understanding the Gift Card Template	10
What Can I Change On the Template?	10
Example of a Customized Gift Card Template	11
Download the Gift Card Template	12
Make a Backup Copy of the Gift Card Template	12
Edit and Save the Gift Card Template	12
Replace the Template	13
Confirm Field Mapping for the Template	14
Loyalty Accounts	15
Understanding Loyalty Accounts	15
Getting Started	15
Create a Loyalty Account	15
View Loyalty Account Balances	16
View Loyalty Account Transactions	16
Edit the Loyalty Account Description	
Update Funds in the Loyalty Account	
Grant Accounts and Administration	18
Understanding Grant Accounts	
Getting Started	
Create a Grant Account	
Viewing Loyalty Account and Grant Balances	
Viewing Account Transactions	
Editing the Grant Account Description	
Applying Grant Accounts Funds to a Purchase	
Updating Funds in the Grant Account	21

What Are Gift Cards, Loyalty Accounts and Grants?

Doubleknot's new features empower organizations to:

- Issue electronic gift cards. Administrators can create gift cards in any amount. If you want to sell gift cards online or at Sales Station, you will also use Doubleknot's Store Management to create a gift card product for sale.
- **Create loyalty accounts**. Loyalty accounts are similar to gift cards. Administrators can add earned rewards to loyalty account, and the account holder can use the account to pay for Doubleknot items.
- Create and assign grant funds. If your organization receives grants or similar funding to apply to admissions, school group visits or camp registration (those are just a few examples!), you can create a grant account for the funds. Grant funds can only be used by administrators. For example, if a corporate sponsor awarded your organization \$10,000 to support school group visits, you'd create a grant fund of \$10,000. Any time you apply the funds to a field trip reservation, you'll enter the account number for the grant. The list of transactions for the grant account contains information you may need to report results to the sponsor.

NOTE: Grant funds can only be applied by administrators.

Can My Organization Use These Features?

If your organization does not already use a gift card processor, you can enable gift cards, loyalty accounts and/or grants. Contact our Support team at <u>Support@doubleknot.com</u> and let them know that you'd like to enable the feature.

If your organization is using another solution and would like to switch to Doubleknot's gift cards, contact support@doubleknot.com.

How Do I Enable These Features?

The Doubleknot support team will enable gift cards, loyalty accounts and/or grants at your request. You can choose to enable one, two or all three of these features. If you want to allow customers to buy gift cards online or at Sales Station, you'll need to enable Doubleknot gift card processing and configure gift cards as a store product in Store Management. Instructions are located in <u>Creating Gift Cards for Sale</u>, later in this document.

To do this:	Ask Support to enable this:
Allow administrators to create and issue gift cards	Doubleknot gift card processing
Create and manage loyalty accounts	Doubleknot loyalty accounts
Create and manage grant accounts	Doubleknot grant accounts
Sell gift cards to constituents online or at Sales Station	Doubleknot gift card processing.
	You'll also need to create gift cards as a store product.

What's the Difference Between Administrator-Issued Gift Cards and Gift Cards that Customers Buy? When an administrator issues a gift card using the steps in <u>Gift Card Administration</u>, the gift card can be created for any amount. However, this kind of gift card doesn't automatically send an email that contains information about the gift card. The administrator must provide the gift card information to the recipient. When an administrator issues a gift card, they can assign any alphanumeric name to the gift card account.

If your organization sells gift cards directly to customers online and/or at Sales Station, you'll create a store product for each denomination you're selling. For example, if you plan to sell \$10 gift cards, you must create a store product for a \$10 gift card. If you plan to sell \$10, \$25 and \$100 gift cards, you must create three separate store products (one for each amount). When a customer purchases a gift card, their receipt contains a link to download the gift card. Complete information on this topic is located in <u>Creating Gift Cards for Sale</u>, later in this document. Gift cards that are sold directly to customers use system-generated account numbers.

NOTE: Even if you plan to offer gift cards for sale, be sure to read <u>Gift Card Administration</u> for information about viewing gift card transactions and reloading gift cards.

How Purchasers Use Gift Cards and Loyalty Accounts

To pay online with a gift card or loyalty account, the purchaser selects the correct payment type and enters the gift card or loyalty account number.

- If the gift card or loyalty account is valid and has sufficient funds, the purchase will be completed.
- If the gift card or loyalty account is not valid, an error message is displayed.
- If the gift card or loyalty account doesn't contain sufficient funds to complete the purchase, the amount of the gift card or loyalty account will be applied to the balance and the purchaser will be asked to use another payment type to pay the balance.

FAIMENT	& BILLING INFORMAT	ION		
Please cho	ose your payment type	e:		
РауРа	VISA 🔤 💼		•	🛶 🔍 💓
	uired fields			
" Indicates rec				
• Indicates rec				

Using a gift card to pay for a purchase online. The gift card item is highlighted.

Using a loyalty account to pay for a purchase. The loyalty account item is highlighted.

PAYMENT & BILLING	SINFORMATION	N			
lease choose your	payment type:				
PayPar VIS			© 💏	. Royatty O	
ndicates required field	ŝ				
oyalty Account					

Accepting Gift Cards in Sales Station

If a customer presents their gift card number to use for an in-person purchase at Sales Station, cashiers can follow these steps to apply the gift card to the purchase.

1. On the Sales Station payment screen, tap **Other Payment Methods**. The Other Payment Methods screen will be displayed.

Tup Othe	r Puymer	πινιετησα	5	
CASH				>
\$14.40 \$15.00	\$20.00	\$30.00	Custom	
CREDIT CARD		C	VV2	
EXPIRATION DATE		POSTAL COD	E	
	Charge			
Other Payment Methods			ł	<mark>, א</mark>
Purchaser Name & Address	š			>
	AMOUNT DI	IE		
	\$14.4	0		

Tap Other Payment Methods

2. Tap **Gift Card**. The Gift Card screen will be displayed.

<i>a</i> .	×
OTHER PAYME	NT METHODS
Check	>
2020 - M	2

- 3. In the GIFT CARD NUMBER field, enter the gift card number.
- 4. Tap **Charge**. Gift card funds will be applied to the purchase. If the gift card balance was more than the balance due, the transaction will be completed and the receipt screen will be displayed. If the gift card balance was less than the balance due, another payment method will be requested.

a.	GIFT CARD	X
GIFT CARD NUMBER		
602668050	05133819	
	Channel	
	Charge	

Getting Started

<u>You must contact Doubleknot's Support team at Support@doubleknot.com to request these features.</u> After the Support team lets you know that the requested features are enabled, log in to Doubleknot and follow these steps:

- 1. In the Administer panel at the left, click **Financial Accounts.** Your organization's account page will be displayed.
 - If your organization enabled all three items, there will be a tab called GIFT CARDS, LOYALTY ACCOUNTS AND
 - GRANTS.

Gift cards, loyalty accounts and grants are enabled at this organization

	МА	NAGE ORGANIZA	TION ACCOUNTS		
	Organization:	City Museum (Sa	n Jose-CA)	\sim	
			🔍 Find a I	Payment	Finance Reports
ACCOUNTS	GIFT CARDS, LOYALTY ACC	OUNTS & GRANTS	RECURRING PAYMENTS	UTILITI	ES

• If your organization enabled one item or two items, the tab will only contain the item(s) you enabled. Only loyalty accounts and grants are enabled at this organization

ACCOUNTS LOYALTY ACCOUNTS & GRANTS	RECURRING PAYMENTS	UTILITIES
LOYALTY ACCOUNTS & GRANTS		
View Accounts & Transactions		

- 2. Click your organization's version of the **Gift Cards, Loyalty Accounts and Grants** tab. The options for this feature will be displayed.
 - Gift card, loyalty account and grant options

ACCOUNTS	GIFT CARDS, LOYALTY ACCOUNTS & GRANTS	RECURRING
GIFT CAR	DS, LOYALTY ACCOUNTS & GRANTS	
View Acco	ounts & Transactions	
Issue Gift	Card	
Reload Git	t Card	
Gift Card B	Balance Check	

3. Follow the instructions in the rest of this document for the feature you want to use.

Gift Card Administration

This section contains information and procedures for gift card administration in Financial Accounts. Instructions for creating gift cards that customers can buy are located in <u>Creating Gift Cards for Sale</u>.

Issue a Gift Card in Any Amount

To issue a new online gift card, follow these steps:

- 1. Click Issue Gift Card. The ISSUE GIFT CARD page will be displayed.
- 2. Enter gift card information as described below:

Field	Required or Optional	What to Enter
ACCOUNT NUMBER	Required	A unique string of numbers to use as the gift card number. Do
		not enter any spaces or punctuation.
AMOUNT	Required	The amount of the gift card. You may enter numbers and a
		decimal. No other characters will be accepted.
DESCRIPTION	Optional	Up to 250 characters that describe the gift card.

- 3. Click Issue. A message confirming the creation of the gift card will be displayed.
- 4. Choose one of the following:
 - To leave the page, click **Done**.
 - To issue another gift card, follow steps 2-3 again.

Entering gift card information

ISSUE GIFT CARD		
* Account Number:	123ABC789	
* Amount:	25	
Description: (250 characters max)	Issued to be used as a door prize at the fundraising event	
	Done Issue	

The gift card has been issued.

ISSUE GIFT CARD						
Approved - Gift Card balance is \$25.00						
* Account Number:	123ABC789					
* Amount:	25					
Description: (250 characters max)	Issued to be used as a door prize at the fundraising event					
	Done Issue					

Check a Gift Card Balance

To check a gift card balance, follow these steps:

- 1. Click Gift Card Balance Check. The GIFT CARD BALANCE CHECK page will be displayed.
- 2. In the GIFT CARD NUMBER field, enter the gift card number
- 3. Click Check. The gift card's current balance will be displayed.
- 4. Choose one of the following:
 - To leave the page, click **Done**.
 - To check the balance of another gift card, follow steps 2-3 again.

Enter the gift card number.

GIFT CARD BALANCE CHECK				
Gift Card Number:	6026680505133819	Check		



Reload a Gift Card

To reload (add more funds to) an existing online gift card, follow these steps:

- 1. Click **Reload Gift Card**. The RELOAD GIFT CARD page will be displayed.
- 2. In the ACCOUNT NUMBER field, enter the account number for the gift card you're reloading.
- 3. In the AMOUNT field, enter the amount to add to the gift card.
- 4. Click **Reload**. A message that confirms the new gift card balance will be displayed.

Entering information to reload gift card

RELOAD GIFT CARD				
Account Number:	6026680505133819			
Amount:	10	Reload		

The funds are added to the gift card and the new
balance is displayed

RELOAD GIFT CARD					
Approved - Gift Card balance is \$20.00					
Account Number:	6026680505133819				
Amount:	10	Reload			

View Gift Card Transactions

To view gift card transactions and details, follow these steps:

- 1. Click View Accounts and Transactions. The VIEW ACCOUNTS AND TRANSACTIONS page will be displayed.
- 2. In the ACCOUNT TYPE menu, select **Gift Card**. All issued gift cards will be displayed.
- 3. Locate the gift card account that you want to view. To locate a gift card by number:
 - In the ACCOUNT NUMBER field, enter some or all of the gift card account number.
 - Click **Search**. Gift cards that match the number you entered will be displayed.

View Accounts and Transactions page

VIEW ACCOUNTS & TRANSACTIONS						
Account Type	Account Number	Page Size:				
Gift Card 🗸 🗸	432	Search 10 🗸	New Gift Card			
Account Number	Description	Create Date	Balance			
1234554321	Volunteer thank-you gift	05/93/2019	\$9.00 ***			

- 4. To view all transactions associated with a gift card, you can c
 - Click the row. OR
 - Click the three-dot menu at the right side of the row, and select **Details**. All transactions for the selected account will be displayed.

NOTE: The menu also contains shortcuts to edit the account description and to reload the gift card.

5. To view the details of a purchase, click the + icon at the left. To hide the details, click the – icon.

Transactions for a gift card account. Purchase details are displayed.

				GIFT CARD TR	ANSACTIONS			
cour	nt Ni	umber: 602668	0505133819				Page	e Size: 10
		ID Tr	ansaction Date		Туре	Created By		Amount
		1279	6/4/2019 3:21:05 PM		Issue			\$0.00
		1280	6/4/2019 3:21:06 PM	Bala	ince Update			\$10.00
		1281	6/6/2019 10:02:36 AM	Bala	ince Update			\$10.00
Θ		1282	6/6/2019 10:06:30 AM		Charge	Eleanor Aquitane		(\$10.70)
	#	Item Number	r Quantity	Description	Unit Cost	Discount	Total Amount	Tax Amount
		5754	,	Puzzle	\$10.00	\$0.00	\$10.70	\$0.70

Creating Gift Cards for Sale

When the Support team enables Doubleknot gift card processing for your organization, they will:

- Configure a supplier
- Upload and configure a gift card template. The gift card template determines how gift card purchase information is displayed.
- Create one gift card as a store product. This is necessary to ensure that the right information is displayed on the gift card.

How Do Customers Receive Gift Cards?

Similar to a ticket, gift cards are a downloadable document. The purchaser's email receipt will contain a link to download the gift card.

Example of a link to a gift card on a Doubleknot receipt



When the purchaser or recipient clicks the link, the gift card is displayed:



Create Gift Card(s) as Store Products

To create a new gift card, follow these steps:

- 1. In the ADMINISTER panel, click Store Management.
- 2. In the PRODUCTS panel, click Manage Products.
- 3. Click New Product.
- 4. In the DESCRIPTION field, enter a name for the product (e.g., \$25 Gift Card).
- 5. In the DETAILS field, enter any desired details.
- 6. In the PRICE field, enter the dollar value of the gift card you're creating.
- 7. In the STOCK field, enter a relatively high number like 10,000.

NOTE: Store products require a non-zero number in the STOCK field. Even though these gift cards aren't physical products stored in inventory, you must assign an amount of stock. Every time someone buys a gift card, the stock is decreased by one. If you enter a large number, you don't have to worry about the gift card running out of stock.

- 8. In the SUPPLIER menu, select the supplier that Support created (e.g., Doubleknot Gift Cards).
- 9. In the CATEGORY 1 menu, assign the gift card product to a category. If you want the card to be included in additional categories, select the categories in the CATEGORY 2 and CATEGORY 3 menus.
- 10. Enter any other information.
- 11. Click **Save**. The gift card product will be created.

Assign Gift Card Product(s) to the Gift Card Template

To assign the gift card to the template, follow these steps:

- 1. In the ADMINISTER panel, click **Template Management**.
- 2. Select the template you uploaded for gift cards.
- 3. Click Assign Templates to Items.
- 4. Click OK. The page to assign items to templates is displayed.
- 5. In the SELECT A TEMPLATE menu, select the gift card template you created.
- 6. In the AVAILABLE GIFT CARDS column, select the gift card(s) you created as products.
- 7. Click **Add**. The selected gift cards will be assigned to use the template.
- 8. Click **Done**. The TEMPLATE MANAGEMENT page will be displayed.

Customizing the Gift Card Template

When the Doubleknot Support team enables gift cards for your organization, they will upload a generic gift card template. You can customize the gift card template by adding images and additional text. You can also change the style

Professional Services are Available

If your team would rather have Doubleknot customize and upload your gift card template for you, you can purchase a block of professional services hours from Doubleknot's Support team. Doubleknot will customize the template to your specifications and ensure that it works and functions exactly the way you want. For more information about purchasing professional services hours, contact Support at <u>Support@doubleknot.com</u> or 408-971-9120 x2.

Before You Start

The gift card template is in the Microsoft Word format. You must have Microsoft Word installed on your computer and be moderately familiar with adding graphics and formatting in Microsoft Word.

Understanding the Gift Card Template

NOTE: We strongly recommend displaying Word's formatting symbols to ensure that you don't accidentally change or remove important formatting information.

How to display Word's formatting symbols



When you open the template in Word and display formatting symbols, the document will look something like this (without the highlighting).

IMPORTANT: The items highlighted in the image below are mail merge fields. **Do not edit the text or the brackets of these fields**. If you do, the mail merge function may fail and customers will receive incomplete or incorrect information about the gift card.

Gift card template in Word with merge fields highlighted

Purchaser®1	
Purchaser_Address»¶	
«Purchaser_City», «Purchaser_State»-	«Purchaser_Postal_Code»¶
«Purchaser_Email»¶	
1	
Description: «AccountDescription» ¶	
Purchase-date: «Purchase_Date» ¶	
Account-number:-«AccountNumber»¶	
Gift-Card-value: «UnitPrice» ¶	
Organization:-«OrgName»¶	
1	
1	

What Can I Change On the Template?

Using Word, you can:

- Add or change text (as long as the text isn't inside the brackets of a mail merge field)
- Add graphics
- Change fonts and styling
- Change margins

WARNING: You cannot add a header or a footer to the template.

Example of a Customized Gift Card Template

In the following image, the gift card template has been customized:

- A logo is added to the top of the page
- The headline text before the gift card information is changed
- The text "Account number" is changed to "Gift Card Number"
- All the words in the information section are capitalized
- A thank-you message, instructions to use the gift card, and contact information are added at the bottom
- All of the fonts have been changed

NOTE: Despite the changes, the exact text and brackets of the mail merge fields have not been changed.

Modified template



Download the Gift Card Template

To download the gift card template, follow these steps in Doubleknot:

- 1. In the ADMINISTER panel, click **Template Management**. The TEMPLATE LIBRARY page is displayed.
- 2. In the TEMPLATE LIST panel at the left, select the gift card template that Support added for your organization.
- 3. In the FUNCTIONS panel at the right, select **Download Template**.
- 4. Click **OK**. The template will be downloaded to your computer.

Downloading the gift card template

Template List	Functions
Beaumont Membership Welcome Letter (Activities) Gift Card Template (Gift Cards) Membership Card (Activities) Membership Card (Activities)	Template Specific Functions New Template Edit Template Delete Template Assign Templates To Items (Activities, etc) Map Template Fields Download Template Overall Functions Generated Reports
ок	Done

Make a Backup Copy of the Gift Card Template

IMPORTANT: Be sure to make a backup copy of the unchanged gift card template that you downloaded. If there are problems with your modifications to the template, you may need to reload the original template.

Edit and Save the Gift Card Template

Use Microsoft Word to modify the template. The following actions are supported:

- Add or change text (as long as the text isn't inside the brackets of a mail merge field)
- Add graphics
- Change fonts and styling
- Change margins

WARNINGS

- **Do not change or remove the mail merge fields including the text and the brackets.** The modified template must have all of the same mail merge fields as the original.
- Do not add anything to the Word document's header or footer.

When you're done with your changes, save the updated template and assign a name that's easy for you to recognize.

Replace the Template

To upload and use the modified template, follow these steps in Template Management:

- 1. In the TEMPLATE LIST panel at the left, select the gift card template that Support added for your organization.
- 2. In the FUNCTIONS panel at the right, select Edit Template.

Template List	Functions
Beaumont Membership Welcome Letter (Activities) Gift Card Template (Gift Cards) Membership Card (Activities) Membership Card (Activities)	Template Specific Functions New Template Edit Template Delete Template Assign Templates To Items (Activities, etc) Map Template Fields Download Template Overall Functions Generated Reports
ок 👆	Done

Preparing to upload the modified gift card template

3. Click **OK**. The EDIT TEMPLATE page will be displayed. A red warning message may be displayed at the bottom of the page. As long as you didn't change the mail merge fields, you can safely ignore the warning.

Edit Template page

EDIT TEMPLATE					
Description:	Gift Card Template				
Template Type: (Gift Cards				
Share Template:	This Organization Only				
File Name:	Gift Card Template Replace Template				
	Cancel Update				

- 4. Click **Replace Template**. A page to upload the modified template is displayed.
- 5. Follow the on-screen prompts to locate, select and upload the template that you modified. The EDIT TEMPLATE page will be displayed again.
- 6. Click **Update**. The updated gift card template will replace the original generic gift card template.
- 7. To leave the page, click **Cancel**. The TEMPLATE LIBRARY will be displayed.

Confirm Field Mapping for the Template

When Doubleknot Support configured the original template, they mapped all the merge fields to display specific information about the order. If you replaced the template correctly, the field mapping will not have changed. To check the field mapping, follow these steps in Template Management.

- 1. In the TEMPLATE LIST panel, select **Gift Card Template**.
- 2. In the FUNCTIONS panel, select Map Template Fields.
- 3. Click **OK**. The MAP FIELDS page will be displayed. If the field mapping is still correct, the column at the right will look similar to the following:

When you replace the default gift card template with a custom template, the Map Fields page will look something like this. In the column on the left, note that all the mail merge fields in the Word document are matched to a date source.

			MAP FIELDS			
Repeating Bookmark Todratu de Ledita dehe lepa Neid Fields Tet whether NCC helds should be e	r Stole. A legier bisst is a hegen robles is the temptote stoument	ert in the	Nenglofe dissument that contacts merge field	at and that will be repeated for each n when mange field is repeated in the te	ne in a santa saunta. Harina Na	No repeating bookmarks •
Report Content Farmat			* Portable Document Format Microsoft Word Hypertext Markup language	PDF) (HTML)		
Template Field Name Data Source Field Name			Sort On This Column	Required To Merge	Display Form	ıət
Purchaser	Purchaser	•		0	Text	•
Purchaser_Address	Purchaser Address	٠	0	0	Text	S.*
Purchaser_City	Purchaser City	٠	8	8	Text.	
Purchaser_State	Purchaser State	•	0	0	Text	
Purchaser_Postal_Code	Purchaser Postal Code		0	0	Text	1.7
Purchaser_Email	Purchaser Email	٠	0	0	Text	•
AccountDescription	AccountDescription		0	0	Text	3.1
Purchase, Date	Purchase Date	•	0	0	Text	6.
AccountNumber	AccountNumber	•	0	0	Text	
UnitPrice	unitPrice	٠	0	0	Text	
OrgName	orgname		0	0	Text	

Loyalty Accounts

Understanding Loyalty Accounts

Loyalty accounts and gift cards are created and managed the same way. However, a loyalty account can't be purchased by a customer, and a document containing loyalty account information isn't automatically created.

Similar to gift cards, your constituents can use loyalty points on the payments page for any purchase.

To pay with a loyalty account, the customer selects Loyalty

PAYMENT & BILLING INFORMATION	
Please choose your payment type:	
	<u> - </u>

Getting Started

To begin issuing and managing loyalty accounts, follow this step:

1. Click View Accounts & Transactions. The VIEW ACCOUNTS AND TRANSACTIONS page is displayed.

The View Accounts and Transactions page

VIEW ACCOUNTS & TRANSACTIONS				
Account Type Please select	Page Size: Search			
No Accounts found.				
	Done			

2. In the ACCOUNT TYPE menu, select **Loyalty Account**. The page will update to show any existing loyalty accounts and the NEW LOYALTY ACCOUNT button will be displayed.

Loyalty accounts and transactions. The New Loyalty Account button is on the upper right.

	VIEW ACCO	UNTS & TRANSACTIONS		
Account Type		Page Size:		
Loyalty Account V		Search 10 V	A New Lo	yalty Account
Account Number	Description	Create Date 🗢	Balance	
Lines Series Solution	Data farme for	6/3/2019	\$997.00	***
Hans Fared		6/3/2019	\$950.00	***

Create a Loyalty Account

To create a new loyalty account, follow these steps:

1. Click the New Loyalty Account button. The CREATE LOYALTY ACCOUNT page will be displayed.

Create Loyalty Account page

	CREATE LOYALTY ACCOUNT	
* Account Number		
* Amount		
Description: (230 characters mole)		
	Dane Issue	

2. Enter loyalty account information as described below:

Field	Required or Optional	What to Enter
ACCOUNT NUMBER	Required	A unique string of alphanumeric characters numbers to use as
		the account number.
AMOUNT	Required	The amount of funds in the loyalty account. You may enter
		numbers and a decimal. No other characters will be accepted.
DESCRIPTION	Optional	Up to 250 characters that describe this loyalty account.

- 3. Click **Issue**. A message confirming that the loyalty account was created will be displayed.
- 4. Choose one of the following:
 - To leave the page, click **Done**.
 - To create another loyalty account, follow steps 2-3 again.

View Loyalty Account Balances

On the VIEW ACCOUNTS AND TRANSACTIONS page, the balance of every loyalty account, grant and gift card is displayed. To view information about an account, follow these steps:

- 1. In the ACCOUNT TYPE menu, select **Loyalty Account**. The list will display all accounts of that type including the account number, description, creation date and current balance.
 - To view more accounts on a single page, click the **Page Size** menu and select another number.
 - To sort the displayed accounts by creation date, click the red triangle next to to CREATE DATE.
 - To search for an account by account number or description, enter text in the search field and click **Search**. Only accounts that contain the text will be displayed.

View Loyalty Account Transactions

To view all transactions associated with a loyalty account, follow these steps:

1. Click the three dots at the end of the row. The ACTIONS menu will be displayed.

The Details item



- 2. Click Details. A complete list of transactions for the account is displayed.
- 3. A+ sign will be displayed at the left of every transaction that reflects use of the account to pay for a Doubleknot item. Click the + sign to display details of the transaction.
- 4. To leave the page, click **Done**.

Edit the Loyalty Account Description

To edit the account description, follow these steps:

- 1. Click the three dots at the end of the row. The ACTIONS menu will be displayed.
- 2. Click **Edit**. A page to edit the account is displayed.
- 3. Add, remove or edit information in the DESCRIPTION field.
- 4. To save your changes and leave the page, click **Save**.

Update Funds in the Loyalty Account

To add or remove funds in a loyalty account, follow these steps:

- 1. Click the three dots at the end of the row. The ACTIONS menu will be displayed.
- 2. Click Reload/Update Balance. A page to edit the balance is displayed.
- 3. In the AMOUNT field, enter the amount that's being added to the account.
- 4. Click **Update**. A status message that shows the new balance will be displayed.
- 5. To leave your changes and leave the page, click **Done**.

Grant Accounts and Administration

Understanding Grant Accounts

Grant accounts can only be used by administrators. You can apply funds from a grant account to a customer's registration or reservation. For example, you could create a grant account called "Camp Scholarships" and apply the funds to all or part of a summer camp registration. If a corporate sponsor provides directed funds that must be used for specific purposes, like funding field trips for area schools, you can create a grant account for those funds and use the account to pay some or all of the balance due for eligible field trip reservations.

Getting Started

To begin issuing and managing grant accounts, follow this step:

1. Click View Accounts & Transactions. The VIEW ACCOUNTS AND TRANSACTIONS page is displayed.

The View Accounts and Transactions page

VIEW ACCOUNTS & TRANSACTIONS				
Account Type Please select	Page Size: Search 10 V			
No Accounts found.				
	Done			

2. In the ACCOUNT TYPE menu, select **Grant**. The page will update to show any existing grants and the NEW GRANT button will be displayed.

After selecting the account type Grant, the New Grant button is displayed on the right.

VIEW ACCOUNTS & TRANSACTIONS				
Account Type Grant	Page Size:	Pew Grant		
No Accounts found.				
	Done			

Create a Grant Account

To create a new grant, follow these steps:

1. Click **New Grant**. The ENTER GRANT page will be displayed.

	ENTER GRANT	
* Account Number:		
* Amount:		
Description; (35) charactes max		

2. Enter grant account information as described below:

Field	Required or Optional	What to Enter
ACCOUNT NUMBER	Required	A unique string of alphanumeric characters to use as the
		account number.
AMOUNT	Required	The amount of funds in the grant account. You may enter
		numbers and a decimal. No other characters will be accepted.
DESCRIPTION	Optional	Up to 250 characters that describe this grant account.

- 3. Click **Issue**. A message confirming that the grant account was created will be displayed.
- 4. Choose one of the following:
 - To leave the page, click **Done**.
 - To issue another gift card, follow steps 2-3 again.

Viewing Loyalty Account and Grant Balances

On the VIEW ACCOUNTS AND TRANSACTIONS page, the balance of every loyalty account, grant and gift card is displayed. To view information about a grant account, follow these steps:

- 1. In the ACCOUNT TYPE menu, select **Grant**. The list will display all grants, including the account number, description, creation date and current balance.
 - To view more grant accounts on a single page, click the **Page Size** menu and select another number.
 - To sort the displayed grant accounts by creation date, click the red triangle next to to CREATE DATE.
 - To search for a grant account by account number or description, enter text in the search field and click **Search**. Only accounts that contain the text will be displayed.

Viewing Account Transactions

To view all transactions associated with a grant account, follow these steps:

1. Click the three dots at the end of the row. The ACTIONS menu will be displayed.



- 2. Click **Details**. A complete list of transactions for the grant account will be displayed.
- 3. A+ sign will be displayed at the left of every transaction that reflects use of the account to pay for a Doubleknot item. Click the + sign to display details of the transaction.
- 4. To leave the page, click **Done**.

Editing the Grant Account Description

To edit the grant account description, follow these steps:

- 1. Click the three dots at the end of the row. The ACTIONS menu will be displayed.
- 2. Click **Edit**. A page to edit the account is displayed.
- 3. Add, remove or edit information in the DESCRIPTION field.
- 4. To save your changes and leave the page, click **Save**.

Applying Grant Accounts Funds to a Purchase

Administrators apply funds from grant accounts on the Adjust Balance page for a purchase. To apply the funds, follow these steps:

- 1. Locate and edit the purchase.
- 2. On the payment page, select the offline payment option.
- 3. Click **Complete Order**. The ADJUST BALANCE page is displayed.
- 4. In the ADJUSTMENT TYPE menu, select **Grant**. The page will update to show fields for applying grant funds.

In the ADJUSTMENT TYPE menu, select Grant

			ADJUST E	ALANCE					
		Transact	tion Histor	y for Order 2	4697				
ltem #	F Transaction Time Account Posting Date Type						Details		Amount
							Late Paym	ient Fee	\$10.00
2866005	6/6/2019 12:10:14 PM	Family Programs 123		6/6/2019	Online Purchas	e	New regist	ration	\$20.00
								Balance	\$30.00
			Order	24697					
		Adjustme	ent Type:	Offline Che	ck Payment	\sim			
		Total Adj	ustment:	Offline Cheo Offline Cred	ck Payment lit Card Payment und				
		Posti	ng Date:	Offline Cash Misc Debit	h Payment				
		Adjustment Des	scription:	Misc Credit Credit Card Electronic C	Check				
				Gift Card					
ltem #	Description	Amount	Paymer and Adjustn	Grant Loyalty Acc Cash Check	ount		Balance	Adjustment	
2866005	Family Fun Day at the Muse	um \$20.0	00	\$0.00		\$10.00	\$30.00	\$	
		Total \$20.0	00	\$0.00		\$10.00	\$30.00)	
		Done	Issue R	leceipt	Adjust				

- 5. In the ACCOUNT NUMBER field, enter the exact grant account number.
- 6. In the TOTAL ADJUSTMENT field, enter the dollar amount being applied from the grant account.
- 7. In the ADJUSTMENT field for the purchase, enter the dollar amount.
- 8. Click **Adjust**. A confirmation dialog box will be displayed.
- 9. Click **OK**. The balance will be updated and the new balance will be displayed at the bottom.
- 10. To issue a new receipt, click Issue Receipt. Or, to leave the page, click Done.

Applying grant account funds to a balance due

	Order 24697						
		Adjustment Type:	Grant	\sim			
		Account Number:	1234563				
		Total Adjustment:	\$ 15				
		Posting Date:	6/6/2019				
ltem #	Description	Paymer Amount and Adjustn	ts Late Payment Fee / Early Payment Disco	unt Balance Adjustment			
2866005	Family Fun Day at the Museum	\$20.00	\$0.00	\$10.00 \$30.00 \$ 0.0	00		
		Total \$20.00	\$0.00	\$10.00 \$30.00			
		Done Issue F	eceipt Adjust				

Updating Funds in the Grant Account

To add or remove funds in a grant account, follow these steps:

- 1. Click the three dots at the end of the row. The ACTIONS menu will be displayed.
- 2. Click Reload/Update Balance. A page to edit the balance is displayed.
- 3. In the AMOUNT field, enter the dollar amount that's being added to the grant account.
- 4. Click **Update**. A message that confirms the new balance in the grant account will be displayed.